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I. STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. The United States Constitution and the Bill of Rights guarantee the Right to
Freedom of Religion within the First Amendment. It has long been held by Courts of the
United States of America and California that the Rastafarian religion is protected by the
Constitution and the Bill of Rights.

2. Rastafarian is a monotheistic, Abrahamic movement that arose in the Christian
culture of 1930°s Jamaica. Rastafarian emphasizes the use of marijuana in cultic ceremonies
designed to bring the believer closer to the divinity and enhance unity among believers.

3. Courts have long held a belief that Rastafarians are immune from laws
criminalizing the use of marijuana; so long as those Rastafarians are in possession of marijuana
to use in conjunction with their religious beliefs.

4. The name Rastafari is derived from Ras Tafari, the pre-regnal name for
Rastarian’s deity, the former ruler of Ethiopia Haile Selassie 1.

5. Rastafarians worship Haile Selassie I as the second advent of Jesus Christ.

6. Rastafari is not a highly organized religion with set ceremonies or rites, but akin
to a movement and an ideology on life. Most Rastafarians do not claim a tribe or group
denomination and thus encourage one another to find faith and inspiration within themselves.

7. On August 15, 2008 Robert Edward Forchion, Jr. formed and organized the
Liberty Bell Temple II. Liberty Bell Temple II operates as a Rastafarian Ministry and is located
at 5642 Hollywood Boulevard in the City of Los Angeles. At all relevant times here Liberty
Bell Temple II has operated as a Rastafarian organization.

8. On May 11, 2009, the Liberty Bell Temple 1I was incorporated as a Religious
Corporation, corporation number 3144387. See Exhibit 1. Liberty Bell Temple holds
ceremonies and services daily. It is at these services that members come together to talk over
the old and new testaments. During this ceremony, Rastafarians burn frankincense, myrrh and
logwood as well as smoke marijuana.

9. On June 7, 2010, Article 5.1 of Chapter IV of the Los Angeles Municipal Code,
also known as Ordinance 181069, became effective. Ordinance 181069 implements a
permanent system for the eradication of over 70% of the marijuana collectives operating in the
City of Los Angeles as well as a system of registration for a select group of collectives that
registered under a preceding and expired Interim Control Ordinance 179027.

10.  Ordinance 181069, on its face, refers only the regulation of marijuana

collectives, not religious organizations like Liberty Bell.
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11. On June 4, 2010, the members of Liberty Bell received a letter from the Los
Angeles City Attorney’s Office signed by Assistant City Attorney Asha Greenberg threatening
criminal prosecution as well as civil fines. The letter was addressed to Liberty Bell Temple/
House of Kush. Liberty Bell Temple II does not function as “House of Kush.” See Exhibit 2.

12.  Ms. Greenberg’s letter stated that Liberty Bell Temple was operating as an
“existing Medical Marijuana collective, dispensary, operator, establishment or provider” and
that it could not qualify with the requirements of Article 5.1 Section 45.19.6.7. As a result, Ms.
Greenberg threaten that if Liberty Bell Temple II did not close on June 7, 2010, it and its
members would be subject to criminal misdemeanor of six months in jail and/or $1000.00 fine
(LAMC §11.00 (M))

13. On June 7, 2010, Mr. Forchain wrote Ms. Greenberg in response to her letter.
Mr. Forchain explained in his letter that Liberty Bell Temple II was not Liberty Bell Temple or
House of Kush, both of which are located in Silverlake. Mr. Forchain notified Mr. Greenberg
that Liberty Bell Temple II operated as a Rastafarian Temple where marijuana was provided
and used as sacrament. Mr. Forchain also stated that Liberty Bell’s provision of marijuana was
not for medical but instead religious purposes. See Exhibit 3.

14. On July 14, 2010, the Los Angeles Police Department conducted a military style
raid on the Liberty Bell Temple II. During the raid a narcotics team, lead by Detective Jaffe,
apprehended 6 people and charged two, Edward Forchain and Chaquant Leyou with violations
of LLAM.C. 45.19.6.7 (“the medical marijuana collective provision.”) All the persons
apprehended are adherents to the Rastafari faith and members of the Liberty Bell congregation.

15.  During the raid and arrest, Police officer made it known that they were aware
that Liberty Bell Temple II was operating as a Rastafari Temple. However, because their name
was not on the list of organizations able to operate, the Police would arrest them and charge
them with a crime.

16.  Mr. R. Edward Forchain and Ms. Charquant Leyou are currently charged with
violating Los Angeles Municipal Code Section 45.19.6.7 and are scheduled to appear in court
on Thursday August 5, 2010. See Exhibit 4.

I. PARTIES
17. Defendant City of Los Angeles (“herein CITY”) is and at all times relevant

hereto a municipality of the State of California, a governmental entity.
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18. The true names and capacities, whether individual, corporate or associate, or
otherwise, of the Defendants named herein as Does 1 through 25, inclusive, are known to
plaintiffs, who therefore sue said Defendants by such fictitious names pursuant to California
Code of Civil Procedure §474, and will amend this complaint to show their true names and
capacities when they have been determined. Plaintiffs are informed and believe, based upon
such information and belief; allege that all Defendants sued herein as Does are in some manner

responsible for the conduct herein alleged.

19. At all times herein mentioned, each of the Defendants, including the Defendants
named as Does herein, was the agent and/or employee of each of the remaining Defendants in
doing the things mentioned herein and was acting within the scope of such agent and/or
employment.

20.  An at all relevant time herein mentioned, Plaintiff Liberty Bell Temple 11, is and
was a Rastafari Religious Corporation and resident of the State of California. Liberty Bell
makes a location available for its adherents to praise Haile Selasie I through the use of
marijuana. All marijuana is used in the practice and furtherance of their religion. On July 14,
2010 after the raid of their location by the Los Angeles Police Department, the Liberty Bell
Temple was told that they would no longer be allowed to operate in the City of Los Angeles as
result of Ordinance 181069. The police told Liberty Bell that if they chose to re-open they
would arrest and prosecute all adherents present at the location with possession of marijuana for
sale as well as for the sale of marijuana.

21. At all relevant times herein mentioned, Plaintiff Robert Edward Forchion is the
founder and Chief Executive Officer of Liberty Bell Temple II as well as a Rastafarian. Mr.
Forchion has held his Rastafarian beliefs for over fifteen years. On July 14, Mr. Forchion was
arrested down the street from Liberty Bell. Mr. Forchion is charged with the violating Los
Angeles Municipal Code 45.19.6.7. He currently has an arraignment date of August 5, 2010.
Mr. Forchion was told by Police Officers at the scene that he could no longer engage in the
worship of his God at Liberty Bell. |

22.  Atall relevant times herein mentioned Fitz Albert Thomas, is a natural person in
his late fifties, spiritual leader and reverend of Liberty Bell Temple II as well as a Rastafarian.

Mr. Thomas’s religious name is Ali Rasa I. Mr. Thomas has held his Rastafarian beliefs for

Liberty Bell Temple I1, et. al. v. The City of Los Angeles, et. al.
Complaint




ES S B V)

O 0 3 N W

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27

over twenty-five years. On July 14, 2010, Mr. Thomas was arrested while he played chess in
the front of Liberty Bell Temple. Mr. Thomas was detained for over three hours. During his
detention Mr. Thomas made the police officers aware of his bad bladder and requested to use
the bathroom repeatedly. Mr. Thomas’s requests were denied. Mr. Thomas was warned that if
he chose to practice his religion or engage in the worship of his God at Liberty Bell he would be
charged with felonies in the near future.

23.  Atall relevant times herein mentioned, Plaintiff Charquant Leyou is the
Secretary and member of Liberty Bell Temple II as well as a Rastafarian. Ms. Leyou has held
her Rastafarian Beliefs for over one year. On July 14, Ms. Leyou was arrested. Ms. Leyou is
charged with the violating Los Angeles Municipal Code 45.19.6.7. She currently has an
arraignment date of August 5, 2010. At the arraignment Ms. Leyou will be forced to enter a plea
of guilty or not guilty to a violation of the municipal code. During her detention Ms. Leyou was
called a “Crazy Bitch” by Officer Walden and Detective Jackson. She was also told that she
could no longer engage in the worship of her God at Liberty Bell or she would risk prosecution
for felonies related to the use and possession of marijuana.

24. At all relevant times herein mentioned, Plaintiff Felicia Estrada is a parishioner
of Liberty Bell Temple II as well as a Rastafarian. Ms. Estrada has held her Rastafarian Beliefs
for over one year. On July 14, Ms. Estrada was arrested as she left Liberty Bell Temple. Ms.
Estrada is not yet charged with violating Los Angeles Municipal Code 45.19.6.7. Ms. Estrada
was also told that she could no longer engage in the worship of her God at Liberty Bell and that
if she chose to worship and operate the temple that the Police would charge her with felony
possession for use and sale of marijuana.

25.  Atall relevant times herein mentioned, Ote Bell, is a natural person as well as a
Rastafarian. Mr. Bell has held his Rastafarian beliefs for over two years. On July 14, 2010, Mr.
Bell was arrested as he left Liberty Bell Temple. Mr. Bell was inside Liberty Bell conversing
with other Liberty Bell members when the Los Angeles Police Task Force arrived. Mr. Bell
was detained for over three hours. Mr. Bell was warned that if he chose to practice his religion
or engage in the worship of his God at Liberty Bell he would be charged with felonies for the

possession and sale of marijuana.
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II. SUMMARY OF THE ACTION

26.  This action for damages, declaratory relief and injunctive relief arises out of Los
Angeles Municipal Ordinance 181069 specifically, Los Angeles Municipal Code Section
45.19.6.2 B(2), Section 45.19.6.7 and other relevant provisions of the Los Angeles Municipal
Code.

217. Plaintiffs seek relief on the grounds that through the enforcement of the Medical
Marijuana Ordinance, the Los Angeles Police Department and Los Angeles City Attorney have
improperly targeted the Liberty Bell Temple II. The action of enforcement which occurred on
July 14, 2010 are clear violations of the Religious Freedom Restoration Act (RFRA) 42 U.S.C.
2000bb and the California Constitution’s right to Due Process under the law.

28.  Furthermore, Plaintiffs seek injunctive relief in preventing the Los Angeles
Police Department and the City of Los Angeles from enforcing Los Angeles Municipal Code
Section 45.19.6. et. seq. against Liberty Bell’s practice of its Rastafarian religion as well as

unsubstantiated threats against members of Liberty Bell.

III. JURISDICTION

29. This court has subject matter jurisdiction over all causes of action asserted herein
pursuant to the California Constitution, Article VI, §10, Civil Code sections 51.7 & 52.1; Code
of Civil Procedure section 88; and Government Code section 12960.

30.  This court has personal jurisdiction over Defendant. CITY is a governmental
entity that conducts business in and maintains operations in this county so as to render the
exercise of jurisdiction by California courts permissible under traditional notions of fair play
and substantial justice.

31.  This court is the proper venue for this action because all of the defendants either
reside in or maintain executive offices in this county and a substantial portion of the transactions
and wrongs complained of herein took place in this county, including defendants’ primary

participation in the acts detailed below.

IV.CAUSES OF ACTION
i.  First Cause of Action
(Declaratory and injunctive relief for violations of the Religious Freedom Restoration

Act (RFRA).

Liberty Bell Temple I, et. al. v. The City of Los Angeles, et al.
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~NO

32.  The allegations set forth above in paragraphs 1 through 30 inclusive are
incorporated into this cause of action by reference as if set forth in full.

33.  Plaintiffs bring this cause of action pursuant to the Religious Freedom
Restoration Act; 42 U.S.C. 2000bb.

34.  The Religious Freedom Restoration Act prevents the City of Los Angeles from
substantially burdening a person’s exercise of religion even if the burden results from a rule of
general applicability.

35. On June 5, 2010, Assistant City Attorney Asha Greenberg sent a letter
threatening to enforce Ordinance 181069 against plaintiffs because the operation of their
Temple would violate Ordinance 181069, the ordinance that seeks to regulate marijuana

collectives.
36. On June 7, 2010, Edward Forchain responded to Ms. Greenberg’s letter and

informed her that Liberty Bell Temple II was not a marijuana collective but a Rastafarian
Temple.

37.  Despite notice, it is information and belief that Ms. Greenberg, managing
attorney for the City-wide nuisance abatement program, referred the Liberty Bell Temple II for
investigation to the Los Angeles Police Department.

38. On July 14, 2010, the Liberty Bell Temple II was raided by the Los Angeles
Police Department NAU. During the raid the Los Angeles Police Department took three pounds
of marijuana and all of the Temples computer equipment and paperwork.

39.  While Plaintiffs were detained, Detective Jaffe and other police officers made
comments to Plaintiffs that they were raided because they were not on a list provided them by
the City Attorney’s office.

40.  Detective Jaffe and Detective Walden also acknowledged the operation of
Liberty Bell Temple II as a Rastafari place of worship, but stated that if Plaintiffs were to
operate at that location again they would raid them and charge Plaintiffs with felony violations
for the possession for sale of marijuana and the sale of marijuana.

41.  The City, by seizing all of Plaintiffs’ equipment, marijuana “sacrament” and
religious items necessary for prayer and ordering Plaintiffs to shut down their temple, has

created a substantial burden on Plaintiffs’ exercise of their religion.
42, The City via the Los Angeles Police Department took Plaintiffs’ equipment,

marijuana “sacrament” and religious items necessary for prayer. The City cannot substantiate
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that its actions were in furtherance of a compelling state interest or the least restrictive means

necessary to further any compelling state interest.

43.  Plaintiffs are not violating State law in the operation of the medical marijuana
collective, nor are they operating their Rastafarian Temple in an unlawful manner. Therefore,
Plaintiffs have compensable property interests in not only their leases but also in their ability to
practice the religion of their choosing.

44. City’s enforcement of Ordinance 181069 has caused Plaintiffs’ to fear the
operation of their Temple and has created a chilling effect on the Plaintiffs’ practice of religion.

45, As a direct, foreseeable, and proximate result of this constitutional violation,
Plaintiffs have sustained, or are likely to sustain injuries and damages including but not limited
to loss of property, loss of economic opportunities, and other economic losses, the total amount
of which is to be determined at time of trial.

46.  Plaintiffs pray for judgment and damages, as more fully set forth below.

ii. Second Cause of Action

(For Declaratory and Injunctive Relief as well as damages for the Violation of Article I,

Section 7(a) of the California Constitution Prohibiting Deprivation of Due Process of
Law As to All Parties)
47.  The allegations set forth above in paragraphs 1 through 44 inclusive are

incorporated into this cause of action by reference as if set forth in full.

48.  Plaintiffs bring this cause of action pursuant to the Due Process Clause of Article
I, Section 7(a) of the California Constitution.

49.  Without due process, Defendant attempts to stop Plaintiffs’ religious ceremonies
by raiding their location and taking all paperwork, equipment and information necessary to
operate Plaintiffs’ Temple. Defendants also charged two Plaintiffs with criminal misdemeanor
charges which do not apply to the operation of a Rastafarian Temple.

50.  Plaintiffs have a fundamental right to practice their religion in the City of Los

Angeles free of harassment or arrest.

51.  Plaintiffs are not violating State law in the operation of the medical marijuana
collective, nor are they operating their Rastafarian temple in an unlawful manner. Therefore,
Plaintiffs have compensable property interests in not only their leases but also in their ability to

practice the religion of their choosing.
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52. City’s enforcement of Ordinance 181069 is in violation of the Due Process
Clauses of both Federal and California Constitutions. Not only does City’s conduct wrongfully
deprive Plaintiffs of their fundamental right to practice religion in the manner they choose fit,
but it also deprives plaintiffs of procedural due process.

53. As a direct, foreseeable, and proximate result of this constitutional violation,
Plaintiffs have sustained, or are likely to sustain injuries and damages including but not limited
to loss of property, loss of economic opportunities, and other economic losses, the total amount
of which is to be determined at time of trial.

54.  Plaintiffs pray for judgment and damages, as more fully set forth below.

WHEREFORE, plaintiffs pray for the following relief:

1. Issuance of a temporary restraining order; preliminary injunction
and ultimately a permanent injunction preventing defendant and
its respective agents, employees and representatives from
preventing Plaintiffs from operating their Rastafarian Temple;

2. An Order of this Court declaring that the Defendant’s actions are
invalid and unconstitutional because they violate Article I, Section
7(a) of the California Constitution, specifically, the Due Process
Clauses;

3. Award of costs, including attorney fees pursuant to Code of Civil
Procedure section 1021.5;

4. Alternatively award of costs, including attorney fees pursuant to
42 U.S.C. 1988(b);

5. Compensatory damages and all consequential damages in an
amount to be determined at trial, together with interest.

6. Any alternative and additional relief as the court deems proper.

e S

David R. Welch, Esq.
Attorney for Plaintiffs

Date: 2010 July 27
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State of California
Secretary of State

|, DEBRA BOWEN, Secretary of State of the State of
California, hereby certify: _ -

. That the attached transcript of _____ page(s) has been compared
with the record on file in this office, of which it purports to be a copy, and
that it is full, true and correct.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, | execute this
certificate and affix the Great Seal of the
State of California this day of

MAY 12 2009

DEBRA BOWEN
Secretary of State

Sec/State Form CE-107 (REV 1/2007) _ - = ospos oo













































